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APPELLANT’S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF DISMISSAL
PURSUANT TO DENIED DUE PROCESS, OMISSIONS OF FACTS AND
ALLEGED STAY VIOLATIONS DURING WEEK OF MARCH 21, 2017,
AND NEGLECT OF RULE 9011(c)(1)(A) “SAFE HARBOR” EXCEPTION

COMES NOW Appellant LEONARD G. HOROWITZ, (hereafter, “Horowitz”)
filing a “Motion for Reconsideration” of ORDER DISMISSING APPEAL, (hereafter,
ODA”) filed April 11, 2017, pursuant to FRAP Rules 40, and 27(d)(2)(B).
I. STANDARD OF REVIEW
“The law is well settled in the Ninth Circuit that a successful motion for
reconsideration must . . . demonstrate reasons why the court should reconsider its
prior decision. . . . [And] set forth facts or law of a strongly convincing nature to
induce the court to reverse its prior decision. Great Hawaiian Financial Corp. v.
Aiu, 116 F.R.D. 612, 616 (D.Hawai`i 1987) (citations omitted). In this case, the
Court is asked to reconsider by reason of: (1) “the discovery of new evidence not
previously available;” and (2) “the need to correct clear or manifest error in law
[and] fact, to prevent manifest injustice.” Id. The District of Hawaii has
implemented these standards in Local Rule 220-11.” Donaldson v. Liberty Mut. Ins.
Co., 947 F. Supp. 429 - Dist. Court, D. Hawaii 1996. These justifications secure and
supplement jurisdiction in this Court, and are pled sequentially as follows:
II. REASONS FOR RECONSIDERATION
Reasons for reconsideration include: A. Deprived Due Process; B.
Omissions of: (a) Judicially Noticed Facts/Records, (b) Alleged Stay Violations the
Week of March 21, 2016; and (c) Rule 9011(c)(1)(A) “false representation”
exception to “safe harbor” policy; C. failure to provide case law controverting the
case law provided by Horowitz pursuant to Sulla’s federal Disqualification Order
in the intertwined subject ejectment actions; and D. Jurisdiction is proper since the
“final order” was issued in a form misapprehended by the Court as “final.”
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A. Dismissal Without Adjudication on the Merits Deprives Due Process
The Court states in “ORDER DISMISSING APPEAL” (Exhibit 1) that this
appeal is interlocutory, which boggles the mind of this reasonable pro se litigant
and offends Honorable Court, both justifiably misapprehending the “finality” of
this case, for the following reasons:
(a) Horowitz previously filed an interlocutory appeal in this case that was
dismissed for being interlocutory (untimely); thus, for economy required by the
Appellant’s bankruptcy, Horowitz; (b) awaited a “final order” by the Bankruptcy
Court (“BKC”) dismissing the case. This was first Noticed by Judge Faris on
September 16, 2016, in “Memorandum Decision Regarding Plan Confirmation”
(Exhibit 2) in which Judge Faris clearly states on page 7 “I will dismiss this case.”
(c) That dismissal Order issued in “Order Denying Confirmation and Dismissing
Case” filed September 19, 2016 (Exhibit 3); and (d) In lieu of no further express
filing of “Final Order” by the BKC, any reasonable person would believe that
those two September 16 and 19, 2016 filings comprised the “final order,” except
for the fact: (e) Horowitz filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration of Order
Denying Motion to Show Cause or In the Alternative Removal of Pending Claims”
on September 26, 2016. That the BKC was Denied three days later, on September
29, 2016. (Dkt # 150) This Appeal was filed five days later, on October 4, 2016.
Accordingly, it is unreasonable and certainly unjust to Dismiss Horowitz’s
Appeal on the basis of not having filed “technically” timely. “Here, the court finds
that [Horowitz's] delay in filing his notice of appeal amounts to excusable neglect.”
(US v. Lii, Dist. Court, D. Hawaii 2017) caused by ambiguity issued by the BKC.
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Corroborating Horowitz’s reasonable assumptions for which the Court may
accommodate technicality in the interest of justice, efficiency, and economy, this
Honorable Court noted on pp. 12-13 of the instant ORDER DISMISSING
APPEAL, (Exhibit 1) “As of the date of this Order, no final decree or judgment has
entered in the Chapter 13 case, although the case was dismissed on September 19,
2016.” This apparent oversight of the BKC is clearly no fault of Horowitz’s, and
Horowitz should not be either prejudiced or further burdened financially by having
to file another appeal if and when the BKC issues an unmistakable “final order.”
“New Evidence” of such is shown in Exhibit 4--another “Final Decree” issued
synchronously and presumably in direct response this Court’s ODA. It gives a
threatening “WARNING: CASE CLOSED on 04/11/2017” notice:
Final Decree. It appearing that the estate of the above-named debtor(s)
has been fully administered, or that the case otherwise may be closed, the
trustee appointed in this case, if not already discharged, is hereby
discharged as the trustee of this estate and this case is closed.
SO ORDERED. /s/Robert J. Faris, U.S. Bankruptcy Judge.
Justification for such a threat is questioned. Is the BKC threatening the pro se
litigant or Honorable District Court? Any reasonable person would find this

“WARNING” alarming, clearly confusing, and distressing. Some might perceive
the message as extortionate. Wouldn’t a simple “NOTICE: CASE CLOSED”
suffice? What contingency does this “Final Decree” express? Will someone
retaliate if the Appellant files anything more? Will he be sanctioned for pleading
for his civil rights? What message does this “WARNING” send to this Court?
In fact, contrary to the BKC’s above quotation, “the estate of the above-named
debtor(s) [have not] been fully administered. . .” The estate has been STOLEN (i.e,
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“converted”) by organized crimes administered by Appellee Sulla, as evidenced in
Horowitz’s pleadings and exhibits filed with the BKC and this Court.
By what measure of justice would any court choose a condition of mind
permitting willful blindness to new evidence of white collar organized crimes
damaging a Judeo-Christian ministry, religious persons, and society? Judicially
Noticed public records are being Dismissed by the courts repeatedly to protect
Sulla’s con-artistry, evidencing “qualified immunity” for his widely known
racketeering enterprise. Horowitz’s Affidavit(s) verify Sulla’s theft; a Declaration
by Counsel Margaret Wille affirms Sulla’s Stay violation(s), (Exhibit 5); and a
Declaration by FBI-trained expert forensic document and handwriting expert, Beth
Chrisman, detailing Sulla’s robosigning, (forgery, date alteration(s), and page
alterations) manufacturing his “Foreclosing Mortgagee’s” incorporation paperwork
wired by Sulla to the State to commit fraudulent foreclosure by which Horowitz’s
estate was converted. By what measure of justice would any reasonable court
claim, especially by threatening “WARNING”, the crime victim’s losses were
“fully administered” in accordance with the Fourteenth Amendment that states:
No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or
immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person
of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person
within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws. Section 2

By Dismissing this Appeal under the aforementioned confusing and threatening
circumstances, and for the reasons stated, this Court evidences that either: (1) the
BKC committed an administrative error in neglecting timely due process, and
issuance of a bonifide “final order;” or (2) the BKC committed a blatant
railroading and stonewalling of Horowitz to further delay the trial sought on the
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merits, extending malicious prosecution by manufactured “jurisdictional
preclusion;” to exhaust Horowitz’s bankruptcy recovery, cause distress and
attrition; all favoring Sulla’s widely known crime enterprise and magnifying the
impression of impropriety the “WARNING . . . Final Decree” delivered.
The instant ODA has, in effect, deprived Horowitz of his “equal protection of
the laws,” deprived Horowitz of his property, and deprived Horowitz of his estate
without due process of law.
And it is unreasonable and irresponsible to deprive this pro se litigant of his
Appeal under these imposed confusing, threatening, and distressing circumstances.
By right of laws and precedent, “we start from the proposition that complaints
prepared by pro se parties must be construed liberally, and we have a duty to ensure
that ‘pro se litigants do not lose their right to a hearing on the merits of their claim
due to ignorance of technical procedural requirements.’" In re Nordeen, 495 BR
468 - Bankr. Appellate Panel, 9th Circuit 2013, quoting Balistreri v. Pacifica Police
Dep't, 901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir.1988). As stated by the Supreme Court in Estelle
v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 106, 97 S.Ct. 285, 50 L.Ed.2d 251 (1976). This Appeal was
filed by Horowitz because his “right to a hearing on the merits of [his] claim” was
DENIED, not for “ignorance of technical procedural requirements,” but for
incomprehensible favor given to fellow Bar Member, thief, and drug dealer Sulla.
Thus, Horowitz did not appeal the dismissal of the bankruptcy, per se. No
reasonable law abiding citizen having put faith in a BKC to administer
Congressional mandates to secure debtors’ estates, having been so railroaded,
stonewalled, damaged, distressed, and irreparably harmed, would plead to remain
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in that abusive environment. Rather, Horowitz expressly appealed for his “right to
[that] hearing on the merits of [his] claim[s]”.

B. Omissions of Fact
The Court, in the ODA, (Exhibit 1) omits facts most substantive to this Appeal,
including: (1) Judicially Noticed Records including New Discoveries, (2) Alleged
Stay Violations the week of March 21, 2016; and (3) Rule 9011(c)(1)(A) “false
representation” exception to “safe harbor” policy.
(1) Judicially Noticed New Discoveries in Public Records
The Honorable Court correctly states in footnote 1 (ODA, p. 2), pursuant to
Horowitz’s Motion for Judicial Notice, “these documents pre-date the bankruptcy
court order at issue in this appeal, none of them was presented to the bankruptcy
court for consideration.”
However, there are two problems raised by this justification for neglecting this
New Evidence in public records: (1) the Court’s related explanation (p. 2)
erroneously presumes Horowitz did not raise the issue of Sulla having concealed his
conflicting interests and malicious intent to convert the Property during the BKC
proceedings; when, in fact, it was. (OB, pp. 14-15) And the ejectment action was,
and still is, pending final determination in State; and Horowitz’s ejectment and loss
of the Property by Sulla’s illegal conversion was the most important objection
repeatedly and “venomously” (in the words of Judge Faris) raised in the case.
But equally important, the presumed “tardiness” of filing this newly discovered
evidence is clearly erroneous. The Court’s justification neglects that fact that any
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reasonable person could not have, and would not have, discovered this new
evidence in public records before September 16, 2016, when the BKC issued its
“final order.” (Exhibit 3) This can be known by the fact that the main new
evidence discovered and attached to the Judicial Notice is the “WARRANTY
DEED dated September 6, 2016. On that date, Sulla converted the title from his
strawman, JASON HESTER, as an individual, to HALAI HEIGHTS, LLC—
Sulla’s company. It is unreasonable and prejudicial to presume Horowitz could
have, or should have, discovered this new evidence within ten (10) days of
Sulla’s covert transaction. That is, Sulla’s secret sale of the subject Property to
himself (in the name of HALAI HEIGHTS, LLC) was concealed from the
courts and from Horowitz. (Exhibit 4) Accordingly, it is ludicrous, prejudicial,
and damaging for the Court to require this new evidence to have been filed within
ten days of its secret manufacture.1
Clearly, this newly discovered evidence encourages reconsideration of the
ODA, especially since this evidenced corroborates, beyond any reasonable doubt,
the BKC’s false presumption that Sulla was honestly and legally representing the
“Foreclosing Mortgagee,” and not his own concealed conflicting interests violating
Cannon 10 of the ABA Canons of Professional Ethics that states:
Canon 10. Acquiring Interest in Litigation. The lawyer should not purchase
any interest in the subject matter of the litigation which he is conducting.
1

The actual date of discovery of Sulla’s Warranty Deed and sale to his private company, Halai
Heights, LLC, was on-or-about Christmas, 2016, within days of Sulla having served Horowitz
another complaint by certified mail on December 22, 2016. Sulla filed in the First Circuit to
expunge Horowitz’s Affidavit of Lis Pendens from State records. Sulla filed purportedly for
“Hester,” concealing Sulla’s own interest and September 6, 2016, recorded title conversion.
Sulla’s Complaint compelled a fresh online search, resulting in the newly discovered evidence
Judicially Noticed by Motion.
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Accordingly, the Honorable Court’s misapprehension here, and aforementioned
omissions, precludes fairness and deprives Horowitz of due process and justice.
For these reasons, and the timely filing of this New Evidence permitted during an
appeal, Op. cit. Great Hawaiian Financial Corp., a reversal and adjudication on
the merits of Horowitz’s Appeal is required for justice to be served.

(2) Alleged Stay Violations Week of March 21, 2016
The Court’s ODA completely neglects Horowitz’s detailed pleadings, corroborated
by attorney Margaret Wille’s Declaration.2 (Exhibit 5) The pleadings, Declaration, and
the Court correspondence Wille submitted by email to the sheriff (attached as Exhibits
to her Declaration) also evidence Stay violations by Sulla during the week of March
21, 2016. As noted in Wille’s Declaration she estimated that approximately one hour of
her time (at a fee rate of $300 per hour) was spent reviewing this matter with Horowitz
in the context of discussion of Horowitz’s proposed pleadings.
Sulla’s AB likewise neglects to answer to these allegations and the clear and
convincing evidence of Wille’s aforementioned correspondence to the Court to
preclude Sulla’s ejectment actions that week, during the Stay.
By omitting or neglecting these material facts evidencing Sulla’s violations of
the Automatic Stay March 21-24, 2016, the courts are clearly giving the
“impression of impropriety;” since Sulla’s covert Property conversion is steeped in
fraud and crime, clearly and convincingly evidenced by in Horowitz’s OB.
In contrast, quoting the Court on page 7 of the ODA, “The bankruptcy court
2

A signed original copy is pending receipt from Attorney Wille, pursuant to the Clerk’s
request stating insufficiency of the e-filing signature originally filed with the Court.
8

explained that ‘the only conduct during the relevant period that might amount to a
stay violation was the affixing of the writ of ejectment to the front gate of the
Property [on March 12, 2016], presumably by a process server acting for Sulla.’
9/16/16 Order at 2-3.”
The BKC, and this Court, gave no explanation whatsoever for disregarding the
records evidencing Sulla’s actions to eject Horowitz (et. al.) during the week of
March 21, 2016, verified by Horowitz’s Affidavit, corroborated by Wille’s
Declaration with the Court correspondence documents submitted to the Sherriff
attached thereto.(Exhibit 6) This evidence clearly and convincingly demonstrated
Sulla’s actions during that week that did “amount to a stay violation.” And Sulla
tacitly admitted the same by failing to answer to this express allegation.3
By omitting and neglecting the compelling evidence of a March 21-24
violation, plus Sulla’s tacit admission(s)4 thereof, the courts are not only
administering damaging injustice, and not only giving an “impression of
impropriety” that a reasonable person would find troubling, but a reasonable
person would conclude that the courts’ favor for Sulla aids-and-abets Sulla’s
commission of multiple felonies and alleged racketeering enterprise.

3

Sulla’s Stay violation(s) March 21-24 was(were) tacitly admitted by Sulla, since his AB
neglects to deny his express, solidly-evidenced, ejectment actions that week that compelled
Horowitz’s lawyer, Margaret Wille, to intercede to protect Horowitz and his Property rights.
(OB, p. 3 ; Dkt # 97-4. See: E-mail to Sheriff Kauwe and Invoice from Attorney Wille in
Exhibit 5)
4

Horowitz pled in his Reply Brief, FRCP Rule 8(b)(2) and (6) [“Failing to Deny” by
“Responding to the Substance” of Horowitz’s allegations]). By “failing to deny”—that is,
exercising “silence”—Sulla tacitly admits willful Stay violations with malicious intent. Sulla’s
“silence” also admits to defrauding the Court to convert possession of the Property to himself.
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Purposeful omissions and misrepresentations to deceive people is fraud; and
Sulla’s “[c]onduct which forms a basis for inference is evidence.” “Silence is often
evidence of the most persuasive character.” U.S. Supreme Court in United States
ex rel. Bilokumsky v. Tod, 263 US 149, 154 (1923). Silence by clear omissions,
neglect of pleadings, avoiding evidence, and precluding arguments of Stay
violation(s), is apparent in the BKC’s “Order Denying Motion to Reconsider” filed
Sept. 29, 2016 (Exhibit 6). Most objectionable, the BKC, and now this Court too,
neglected Sulla’s ejectment actions during the week of March 21, 2016.
(3) Rule 9011(c)(1)(A) “false representation” exception to “safe harbor.”
The ODA additionally and completely neglects Horowitz’s objections to the
BKC’s excusing of Sulla from responding to Horowitz’s Motion to Show Cause.
The BKC precluded an “Evidentiary Hearing” requested on the issues raised
pursuant to Rule 9011(c)(1)(A), as Horowitz pled in his OB (p. 21). A reasonable
person would perceive from this second obvious omission, supplementing neglect
of the March 21 week violation(s), more impropriety. That court-neglected
exception to Rule 9011 clearly states with emphasis added in the relevant part:
(A) By Motion. A motion for sanctions under this rule shall be made separately from
other motions or requests and shall describe the specific conduct alleged to violate
subdivision (b). It shall be served as provided in Rule 7004. The motion for sanctions
may not be filed with or presented to the court unless, within 21 days after service of
the motion (or such other period as the court may prescribe), the challenged paper,
claim, defense, contention, allegation, or denial is not withdrawn or appropriately
corrected, except that this limitation shall not apply if the conduct alleged is the
filing of a petition in violation of subdivision (b). If warranted, the court may award
to the party prevailing on the motion the reasonable expenses and attorney's fees
incurred in presenting or opposing the motion. Absent exceptional circumstances, a
law firm shall be held jointly responsible for violations committed by its partners,
associates, and employees.
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Horowitz filed that separate Motion to Show Cause in compliance with Rule 7004,
and filed evidence and allegations that Sulla violated “subdivision (b)” (OB pp. 3538) that states in pertinent parts:
(b) Representations to the Court. By presenting to the court (whether by signing, filing,
submitting, or later advocating) a petition, pleading, written motion, or other paper, an
attorney or unrepresented party is certifying that to the best of the person's knowledge,
information, and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances, . . .
(2) the claims, defenses, and other legal contentions therein are warranted by existing law
or by a nonfrivolous argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law
or the establishment of new law;
(3) the allegations and other factual contentions have evidentiary support or, if specifically
so identified, are likely to have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for
further investigation or discovery; and
(4) the denials of factual contentions are warranted on the evidence or, if specifically so
identified, are reasonably based on a lack of information or belief.

Horowitz alleged, and well-evidenced, felony conversion of his estate Property by
Sulla. (OB, p. 15) Horowitz filed objections to Sulla’s “Fraudulent Assignments” of
Horowitz’s Mortgage and Note into a not-yet-legally existing sham “church.”
Horowitz objected to Sulla’s filing of those “Fraudulent Assignments” with the
State (OB p. 19). Horowitz showed Sulla’s forgeries of the Seller’s signature(s)—
cut and pasted into Sulla’s incorporation paperwork to manufacture the
“Foreclosing Mortgagee.” Sulla exclusively verified by Affidavit these fraudulent
documents as “true and correct.” Perjury, forgery and fraud for grand larceny is
certainly not “warranted by existing law.” These facts, and solidly evidenced
issues, are “Representations to the Court” triggering subsection “b” of Rule
9011.
Accordingly, by neglecting the facts and evidentiary exhibits, and providing
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Sulla a “safe harbor” contrary to the express wording of Rule 9011, a reasonable
person would construe the Honorable Court as complicit in “safe harboring” a
criminal, and aiding-and-abetting Sulla’s solidly evidenced crimes.
Reiterating the BKC’s ruling, in Horowitz’s OB pleading:
(1) The court erred by ruling Dr. Horowitz is “not entitled to any remedy
under the rule, . . . because he has not complied with the “safe harbor” of rule
9011(c)(1). The safe harbor provides that a party may not file a motion for
sanctions under the rule unless the party serves an unfiled copy of the motion
on the alleged wrongdoer and gives the wrongdoer 21 days to correct the
alleged wrong. There is no indication that Dr. Horowitz complied with the
safe harbor, so sanctions are not available under rule 9011.”
The above quote by the court errs by neglecting Fed. R. Civ. P. §
11(c)(1)(A) that grants exception to the “safe harbor” since Mr. Sulla,
“after receiving the motion,” and with substantial time permitted,
“refused to withdraw [his] position” or “acknowledge candidly that [he]
does not currently have evidence to support a specified allegation.”5
C. Failure to provide case law controverting the case law provided by
Horowitz pursuant to Sulla defying his federal Disqualification Order in the
subject ejectment actions.
The ODA states no case law whatsoever under its conclusion “Disqualification
Not Warranted,” and simply quotes the BKC court that erroneously-represented the
5

“. . . Sulla was served the [subject] Motion, had plenty of time to answer, neglected to do
so, and the court not only neglected the material facts, fraud, and crimes alleged; not only
neglected to perform an “inquiry reasonable under the circumstances” of alleged foreclosure
fraud and wrongful conversion by Sulla made known to the court; and not only vicariously
answered for Sulla, but also neglected the clear language of Fed. R. Civ. P. § 11(c)(1)(A); and
also neglected the Rule 9011(b) “safe harbor” preclusion. That is, Sulla’s bad faith
‘Representations to the Court’ related to his concealed real party interest. This “fraudulent
concealment” and Hester’s invalid standing, precluded the ‘safe harbor.’”
Summarily, Mr. Sulla had far more than 21 days required by the “safe harbor.” In fact, he
had 2.5 months to reply to service of Motion served by the Bankruptcy Court Clerk by e-service
on 6/30/2016. (Dkt # 100) The hearing was held on September 15, 2016.
12

instant case as “unrelated” to the Disqualification of Sulla in the ejectment case. In
other words, the bankruptcy case, and State Civ. No. 14-1-0304 ejectment case in
which Sulla was Disqualified by federal magistrate Judge Puglisi, are intimatelyintertwined foreclosure/ejectment actions pending final disposition, and are most
proximal to Horowitz’s bankruptcy and Reorganization Plan.
This Court erroneously stated in its ODA (p. 8) “Horowitz argued
unsuccessfully before the bankruptcy judge that Sulla violated the district court’s
unrelated order by appearing in this bankruptcy case.” This statement is
prejudicial and clearly erroneous on two counts. First, oral argument “before”
Judge Faris was prejudicially precluded (for which the BKC apologized, but never
remedied the due process violation [OB pp. 10-11]). Second, the instant case is not
“unrelated” to the Disqualification Order. In fact, the ejectment action and Property
conversion is central to this case; AND central to the Stay violation(s); AND is the
same ejectment action and Property conversion adjudicated in the Disqualification
case—Civ. No. 14-1-0304; Civ. No. 14-0413 JMS-RLP.
Sulla is required by case law, the Motion, and due process, to show cause for
his alleged contempt of court. Sulla has yet to show cause for his defiance of Judge
Puglisi’s Disqualification Order that is intimately-intertwined with Sulla’s
ejectment action during the week of March 21st.
Under these circumstances, it is unreasonable, and even deceptive, to grant
Sulla immunity from having to show cause for defying the subject
Disqualification. The BKC’s justification for excusing Sulla is un-convincing. The
BKC’s statement, “[t]he fact that one court disqualified Mr. Sulla does not require
all courts to do so,” is controverted by case law provided below.
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III. Argument
The Honorable Court’s acceptance of the BKC’s reason given to defy Judge
Puglisi’s Disqualification of Sulla in the Stay-violating ejectment action is contrary
to stare decisis doctrine and In re Ball, (Op. cit at 597):
Generally, the doctrine of stare decisis provides that "when the court has once laid down a
principle of law as applicable to a given state of facts, it will adhere to that principle and
apply it in future cases where the facts are substantially the same." Russell Moore, Stare
Decisis 4 (1958). The stare decisis principle has long been "a corner-stone of the common
law," Jeffrey Brookner, Bankruptcy Courts and Stare Decisis: The Need for Restructuring,
27 U.Mich.J.L.Ref. 313, 313 (1993), and continues to thrive.

The “given state of facts” are substantially the same between this bankruptcy
case and the ejectment action, since both cases deal with the same Property, same
series of transactions, same parties-in-interest or their privies, and the same convert
conversion committed by Sulla. The BKC’s erroneous justification, accepted by this
Court, defies In re Ball and stare decisis doctrine. These rulings also defy the
Model Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 8.5 helps secure consistency of rulings
between jurisdictions.
“It is the duty of the district court to examine the charge[s]”.6 In the instant
case, the “charges against Sulla include his March 21-24, 2017 Stay violations;
concealed conflicting interests; Fraudulent Assignments of Horowitz’s Mortgage
and Note (i.e., securities fraud); unlawful debt collection practices to possess the
Property or gain unjust enrichment; and defiance of Sulla’s Disqualification Order.

6

In re Coordinated Pretrail Proceedings, Etc. 658 F. 2d 1355 (OB p. 6, footnote 5) also citing
the Ninth Circuit in Gas-A-Tron, supra, 534 F.2d at 1325 and Woods v. Covington Cty. Bank,
supra, 537 F.2d at 813 (quoting Third Circuit in Richardson v. Hamilton International Corp.,
469 F.2d 1382 (1972).
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The Court’s reconsideration of these matters, re-examination and “inquiry
reasonable under the circumstances,” is required since the “court . . . is authorized
to supervise the conduct of the members of its bar. The courts, as well as the bar,
have a responsibility to maintain public confidence in the legal profession. This
means that a court may disqualify an attorney for not only acting improperly but
also for failing to avoid the appearance of impropriety.” Op. cit. Richardson.
"Every lawyer owes a solemn duty . . . to strive to avoid not only professional
impropriety but also the appearance of impropriety."Id. In the instant case, the
ODA unjustly, and unjustifiably, provides Sulla with a “safe harbor” and vicarious
immunity against prosecution on all charges.
Contrary to remaining misconception, and the courts’ inferences, Horowitz
did not move for Sulla’s Disqualification in this case, because Sulla’s
Disqualification was already secured by stare decisis doctrine, and it was the
BKC’s duty (not Horowitz’s duty) to police itself.6 In this Appeal, Horowitz
simply sought compensation for damages from Sulla’s Stay violation(s); and also
to compel Sulla to Answer to allegations of Stay violations, evidence of
foreclosure fraud, and criminal contempt of court. Horowitz should not be deprived
of due process to adjudicate these meritorious claims, but for the courts’ reluctance
to prosecute a thief licensed to practice law.
It is the Court’s duty upon de novo review to reverse the BKC’s errors,
especially rulings that violate Bankruptcy Code § 362(a)(3). This Congressional
mandate protects debtors from, “any act to obtain possession of property of the
estate or of property from the estate or to exercise control over property of the
15

estate. . . .” during the Stay period. (Emphasis added.) Section 362(h) adds: “An
individual injured by any willful violation of a stay provided by this section shall
recover actual damages, including costs and attorneys' fees, and, in appropriate
circumstances, may recover punitive damages.”
The actual damages requested, a pittance compared to the total damages,
plus deserved punitive damages, are most reasonable, especially given the fact that
Sulla violated the Stay and ABA ethics Canon 10. Hence, Horowitz argues and
evidences, res ipsa loquitur, Sulla committed willful violations of ethics rules, laws,
and the Automatic Stay, and to neglect fair and just compensation is shameful.
Given that Sulla currently holds title to the Property (in the name of
HHLLC), is it unreasonable to presume his ethics violation(s) did not encompass
his willful Stay violation(s). Accordingly, Horowitz seeks to recover actual
damages, including costs and attorneys’ fees, and punitive damages, since the
automatic stay extends to any exercise of control over property of the estate that
Sulla committed during the week of March 21, 2016. Norton Bankr. Code
Pamphlet 209 (1990-91 ed.), quoted in In re Abrams, 127 BR 239 - Bankr.
Appellate Panel, 9th Circuit 1991.
The two cases, In re Abrams and Knaus, 889 F.2d at 775, concur—the failure

to fulfill the duty to turn over property of the estate to the Trustee during the Stay
period constitutes a prohibited attempt to "`exercise control over property of the
estate' in violation of the automatic stay." Id. at 775. “That interest in the real
property became property of the estate when the Plaintiff filed bankruptcy and was
protected from creditors by the automatic stay. 11 U. S.C. § 362(a).” Miller v.
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McDougal Bros. Investments, Bankr. Court, D. Oregon 2008. Horowitz never
abandoned the Property, even after the bankruptcy case closed, the Property
continues to remain Property of the estate and subject to administration by the
Trustee at this time, pending final determinations by this Court. Id. citing Cusano
v. Klein, 264 F.3d 936, 945-946 (9th Cir. 2001)(internal citations omitted).
By erroneously dismissing this Appeal, by reason of purported untimeliness
and/or lacking jurisdiction, and without a hearing or fair adjudication on the merits,
the Court is neglecting the aforementioned case law, the Trustee’s responsibilities,
the Court’s duty, and prejudicing Horowitz’s re-possession of his Property required
to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 3771.
Sulla’s AB advances two main fraudulent defenses against these claims,
remedies and the precedent established in In re Abrams: (1) that the Property was
never part of Horowitz’s estate to be secured and/or repossessed by the Trustee
pursuant to, inter alia, 11 U.S.C. §§ 550 and 558, statutes of frauds and avoidance
powers; and (2) if Sulla had violated § 362, then Sulla’s violation(s) was(were) not
willful, thus not susceptible to 362(h) sanction.
However, again, Sulla’s AB is steeped with omissions, misrepresentations, and
diversions from required responsive pleading. Accordingly, Sulla tacitly admits
willful wrongdoing the week of March 21, 2016 (according to uncontroverted
evidence and FRCP Rule 8(b)(2) and (6)) including purposeful Stay violation(s) for
first degree theft.
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The BKC’s backing of Sulla, effectively “harboring” Sulla, and precluding
adjudication on the merits, plus acting with no jurisdiction over Hester, and
dismissing this case without a trial or hearing on the Motion, all damaging Horowitz,
additionally defies the U.S. Supreme Court’s (1971) holding in Bivens v. Six
Unknown Fed. Narcotics Agents, 403 US 388. This precedent condemns federal
officers who violate “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their . . . houses . . .
against unreasonable . . . seizures . . . ." Id. In the instant case, Judge Faris permitted
Sulla to unreasonably seize Horowitz’s exclusive residence under color of law. In
Bell v. Hood, 327 U. S. 678 (1946), the Supreme Court held liable “a federal agent
acting under color of his authority . . . for damages consequent upon his
unconstitutional conduct.” The BKC’s accommodation of Sulla’s blatant
misrepresentations, omissions, and criminal conversion, shames justice and
unreasonably multiplies processes at the expense of the parties, legitimate creditors,
and taxpayers.
Even if Sulla were to argue his right to the Property to justify his willful
violations of ethics rules and laws, including § 362(a)(3), “[w]hether the party
believes in good faith that it had a right to the property is not relevant to whether
the act was ‘willful’ or whether compensation must be awarded. Bloom, 875 F.2d
at 227 (citation omitted). A violation of the stay is thus willful when a creditor acts
intentionally with knowledge of the bankruptcy. Accord Knaus, 889 F.2d at 775.
Excerpt from In re Abrams, 127 BR 239, 243 - Bankr. Appellate Panel, 9th Circuit
1991. By the third week of March, 2016, Sulla irrefutably knew the Stay was in
effect, and willfully acted during that time to eject Horowitz from the Property.
18

Accordingly, even if the Court, upon de novo review, were to rule
insufficiency of evidence to hold Sulla accountable for Stay violation(s) on
Saturday night, March 12, 2016, then compensation for Attorney Wille’s fees of
$300, plus punitive damages, are still due for Sulla’s willful violation(s) of the Stay
during the third week in March.

IV.

CONCLUSION

Horowitz has demonstrated multiple reasons why the court should reconsider its
Dismissal. The Court is asked to reconsider by reason of Horowitz’s provision of:
(1) “discovery of new evidence not previously available” that could not have been
discovered more timely; and (2) “the need to correct clear or manifest error in law
[and] fact, to prevent manifest injustice.” Op cit. Great Hawaiian Financial Corp.
The “strongly convincing” facts and laws aforementioned are compelling reasons
for reconsideration. These include: A. Deprived Due Process; B. Omissions of: (a)
Judicially Noticed Records, (b) Alleged Stay Violations the week of March 21,
2016; and (c) Rule 9011(c)(1)(A) “false representation” exception(s) to “safe
harbor” policy. Horowitz has also objected to the Court’s failure to provide case
law controverting stare decisis case law provided pursuant to Sulla’s federal
Disqualification Order. And Horowitz argued convincingly that the
Disqualification case and this case are intimately intertwined. Finally, Horowitz
has clearly and convincingly documented that Jurisdiction is proper before this
Court since the “final order” was issued, albeit not in a form customarily filed by
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DECLARATION OF LEONARD G. HOROWITZ

Leonard G. Horowitz (hereafter “Horowitz,” “me,” “I,” or “my”), under pain of
perjury of law, do hereby state and declare as follows:
1. I am an individual over the age of twenty-one (21) years, and currently
reside in the State Hawai‘i, in Honolulu (part time), under the duress of Paul
J. Sulla, Jr.
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2. I am a victim of the injustices discussed in the attached Motion; and I am,
therefore, legally domiciled in California, since Hawaii is my “after acquired
residence.”
3. I exist as a resident of Hawaii under virtual involuntary servitude, since I am
compelled by the misdeeds of the local courts to litigate cases to regain my
life-savings that has been stolen from me by Sulla and the corrupted courts.
4. I am not a lawyer, and not licensed to practice law before the Courts of
Hawai‘i. I am a pro se litigant.
5. In this case, I plead as a bankrupted debtor/victim of Paul J. Sulla, Jr.’s
organized crimes, after filing for bankruptcy on March 9, 2016, and at the
same time filed related Adversary Proceeding 16-90015. Both cases have
been wrongfully dismissed, and my estate Property has been vicariously
ceded to Sulla by the court(s) without my having been granted a “trial on the
merits” following nearly eight (8) years of bankrupting litigations.
6. I declare that the attached “MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION”
contains true and correct pleadings to the best of my knowledge and belief.
7. I declare that Exhibit “1” is a true and correct copy of the “ORDER
DISMISSING APPEAL, filed on April 11, 2017.
8. I declare that Exhibit “2” is a true and correct copy of the
“MEMORANDUM OF DECISION REGARDING PLAN
CONFIRMATION” filed by Judge Faris on September 16, 2016 in
Bankruptcy Case No. 16-BK-00239.
9. I declare that Exhibit “3” is a true and correct copy of the “ORDER
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